

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

Funding Impacts on Existing Social Workers Providing Services to African American Battered Women

Dalicia Victorica Watson Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Social Work Commons

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Dalicia Watson

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Debora Rice, Committee Chairperson, Social Work Faculty Dr. Tracey McElwee, Committee Member, Social Work Faculty Dr. Sunday Fakunmoju, University Reviewer, Social Work Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Funding Impacts on Existing Social Workers Providing Services to African American Battered Women

by

Dalicia Watson

MSW, Walden University, 2018

BS, North Greenville University, 2014

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Social Work

Walden University

February 2022

Abstract

Social workers who work in domestic violence shelters have many different impacts that can affect their ability to provide services to battered women. Research is lacking on how funding impacts the abilities of existing social workers to provide services to African American battered women who are at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina. The purpose of this study was to examine how a lack of funding impacts the abilities of existing social workers who work at domestic violence shelters to provide services to African American battered women. Conflict theory was used to gain an understanding of how funding issues impact existing social workers' ability to do their job. A basic qualitative approach was used with individual interviews with five social workers currently employed at domestic violence shelters. The data were analyzed through thematic analysis. Five themes emerged: (a) limited programmatic and therapeutic access, (b) inability to update training and tools to access current needs, (c) barriers to retaining experienced social workers, (d) insufficient number of social workers, and (e) limited access to services to meet the needs of battered African American women. The social workers who work in domestic violence shelters and shelter administrators may benefit by using the findings for positive social change to advocate for additional financial and training support at the local, state, and national levels.

Funding Impacts on Existing Social Workers Providing Services to African American Battered Women

by

Dalicia Watson

MSW, Walden University, 2018

BS, North Greenville University, 2014

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Social Work

Walden University

February 2022

Dedication

This research is dedicated to the battered women who do not have a voice, the warriors, survivors, those who did not make it out due to domestic violence, and for those who are still going through it. Columbia, South Carolina is home for me, and domestic violence is a major social issue that is overlooked in this city. My research is to help shed light on the resources that are available and are not available to African American battered women. I want battered women to know that you will always have POWER and to continue to take your POWER back even if it was taken from you. My research is not to judge anyone but to help bring awareness to this social issue. Working with the battered women population is my dream career, and this research is a big move to help my dream career come true. My goal is to be the voice for the warriors, survivors, those who did not make it out alive, and also for those who are still going through it.

Acknowledgments

First, I have to give all praises to God for keeping me strong throughout this journey and for more to come. For standing by my favorite scripture, Luke 1:37: "For with God nothing shall be impossible." And throughout this journey I am forever grateful for that scripture. However, I am also grateful for those who stood close beside me throughout this journey. I want to say thank you to my mother and father for continuing to stand by my side with words and money of encouragement to keep me going. I am grateful to be gifted with parents who always want the best for me with the understanding of my passions and dreams. From those long days and nights at the kitchen table with my mother being my teacher in elementary school, to tears at the table with my father during college after losing a major scholarship. I want to thank my sister Felicia and brother in love Christopher for stepping in to help with ideas and opinions to keep me pushing throughout my dissertation. Even when Christopher dug deep into it (which always made my day) is another thing that kept me going strong (while Felicia swore he was doing the most). Of course, my energetic nieces Aria and Amira. I want to thank my sister Erica for being a listening ear, even the times she just listened and did not pay attention. I also want to thank both my grandmothers, Eartha and Earline, for the encouraging words and for their favorite saying, "I don't care what you do, you bet not quit school." I want to thank Melissa (Vet) for always checking on me and allowing me to vent to you in regards to how stressful this journey was; it meant more than you will ever know. I want to thank my bonus sisters Keaubrey and Katavia for sticking it out with me from the beginning until the end of this journey. I want to thank my auntie Pamela (Shell) for always

believing in me. I want to thank my mentor Namoi for letting me vent and giving me a clarity of mind to keep pushing forward. I want to thank my best friend Jazmine for always having faith in me even when I could not see it and for standing by me through everything. I am thankful for my college best friend Diamond who volunteered to step in whenever I needed her with no questions asked. I am thankful for my life friend Jackia, not only for being a listening ear, but also for the encouragement she gave me on the days I was out of it. I am thankful for Aude for our lunch dates and phone calls that kept me pushing. I want to give a special thank you to my friend Erica G, for our long conversations that help me get my mind right and for checking in on me daily even when I did not want to talk. I want Erica G to know that our conversations and long talks meant a lot to me and help me out mentally even when she just lets me talk and she just listens. I want to thank my cousins Jakovia and Devante for stepping in when I needed them, and to Jakovia for our monthly date nights that were needed. Thank you to Erica Odom, for our therapeutic conversations that kept me going. To my new friend Meredith for allowing me to burst in your office to speak to you about my dissertation; even if you were busy at work, you always took the time out for me, and the glow on your face when I got good news for each step I took was always priceless. To my low country intake hub crew that stood beside me on my tired days and insisted that I needed to take breaks. To Sonja B. for hugs and words of encouragement when I needed them the most. I want to say thank you, Tyneshia Douglas, for starting and ending this journey with me. We both started off as colleagues, became friends, and now have Dr. in front of our names together. I want to thank Lisa Mitchell for pushing and thriving on this journey together;

it meant a lot. I want to give a big thanks to my Michael G. for sticking by me throughout my tears, my smiles, and my breakdowns. Michael, I want to thank you for the encouraging words, even when there were times that you did not know what to say, but you truly pushed me to be better and to remain a confident woman. Michael, thank you for sticking by me when I had nothing to my name. Michael, there is sooo much I owe you from this journey, and I pray that I am able to return it during this lifetime. I want to thank my first chair, Dr. Donna Bliss, for sticking by me through my attitude and the two hardest phases of this process. I want to thank Dr. Tracey Barnett for giving me a new perspective on my research. To Dr. Sunday Fakunmoju for being an amazing URR. To my second chair, Dr. Debora Rice, who stepped in at the last moment but you got me right. I want to take the time out to thank myself. Throughout this journey, I wanted to give up every day, but I did not. It still amazes me because there were so many challenges, trials, and tribulations that were thrown my way, but God help me see it differently. From this journey I found new strengths that I never knew I had, and I am proud of myself. Lastly, I just want to give a big thank you to all of my family, friends, coworkers, and associates. Thanks for going through this journey with me; I am FOREVER GRATEFUL for all of you! WE DID IT!

Table of Contents

List of Tablesiv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review
Introduction1
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement
Research Question
Definition of Terms
Nature of the Doctoral Project
Significance of the Study
Theoretical/Conceptual Framework
Values and Ethics
Review of the Professional and Academic Literature
Literature Search Strategy
Funding Challenges in Programs at Domestic Violence Shelters
African American Battered Women
Revictimization
Importance of Domestic Violence Shelters
Resources/Advocacy
Limitation of Resources/Barriers
Theoretical Framework
Literature Review Summary31

Summary
Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection
Introduction
Research Design
Methodology35
Participants
Instruments
Data Analysis
Ethical Procedures
Summary39
Section 3: Presentation of the Findings
Introduction41
Data Analysis Techniques42
Time Frame of Data Collection
Data Analysis Procedures
Validation Procedures
Limitations44
Findings45
Characteristics of the Participants
Research Question Findings
Summary
Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social Change 57

In	ntroduction	57
A	pplication to Professional Ethics in Social Work Practice	58
R	ecommendations for Social Work Practice	60
Н	ow These Findings Will Impact the Researcher's Social Work Practice	61
Ti	ransferability	62
	The Usefulness of the Findings From the Study	62
	Limitations That May Impact the Usefulness of the Findings	64
R	ecommendations for Further Research	65
W	Vays to Disseminate the Research Information	65
In	mplications for Social Change	66
	Micro	66
	Mezzo	67
	Macro	68
Sı	ummary	69
Refer	rences	70
Anna	ndiy A: Interview Questions	79

List	of	Tables
------	----	--------

Table	1 Major	Themes	Categories	Subcateo	ories and	l Codes	46
I aute	1. Iviajoi	Themes,	Categories	, Subcateg	gories, and	1 Coues	4C

Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review

Introduction

Fisher and Stylianou (2019) defined intimate partner violence as "physical violence, sexual violence, stalking and psychological aggression by a current or former intimate partner" (p. 786). The prevalence of women who are affected by intimate partner violence averages 10 million women annually (National Coalition Against Domestic Violence [NCADV], 2019). However, compared to women of other races, the population of African American women has a higher percentage being affected by intimate partner violence. Wilson and Laughon (2015) stated that high rates of intimate partner violence are associated with being a young Black woman, earning a lower income, and residing in an urban area. The prevalence of African American women in general who are affected by intimate partner violence and were killed by a firearm due to intimate partner violence is 45% and 54% higher than other ethnicities group (Hargrove, 2018).

Some women who are affected by intimate partner violence escape the abuse by seeking the safety of a domestic violence shelter (NCADV, 2019). Shelters are the primary place for women fleeing abusive relationships and help women to reconstruct their lives (Burnett et al., 2015). Fisher and Stylianou (2019) stated that domestic violence shelters are considered essential when it comes to protecting battered women from abuse. However, Fisher and Stylianou (2019) stated that many battered women have had negative experiences while being placed at a domestic violence shelter. One reason for negative experiences is the existence of outdated facilities and communal living with limited privacy (Fisher & Stylianou, 2019). Another reason for negative experiences is

insufficient funding; for instance, lack of funding may result in too few social workers being on staff to help provide resources and advocacy for the women (Fisher & Stylianou, 2019).

The remainder of Section 1 is structured as follows. After this introduction, I present the study's problem statement. The problem statement conveys the focus of this study, which was how lack of funding impacts the abilities of existing social workers to provide services to African American battered women at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina. The problem statement subsection gives a brief overview of the evidence that demonstrates the current social work problem and how relevant the social work problem is. The next major subsection contains the purpose statement and research question. The purpose statement helped in examining and exploring the social work practice problem. I also present definitions of key terms, concepts, and constructs that were used throughout this study. The nature of the study is the focus of the next major subsection after the purpose statement and research question. This subsection addresses the type of research method that I used in this study, which was the basic qualitative method. The source of data is presented in this section, which was semistructured individual interviews. After this section, I address the significance of the study and identify the potential contribution of this study to social work practice knowledge. Additionally, I consider the study's implications for positive social change. Next, I present the study's theoretical/conceptual framework. The framework of the study was conflict theory. I show how the social work practice problem is related to the theoretical concept that was used and how well it aligned with the study. Then, I present

the values and ethics subsection, in which I identify the values and principles of the National Association of Social Workers (NASW) Code of Ethics that are related to the social work practice problem. I describe in detail how the NASW Code of Ethics guides clinical social work practice in this area. The next major subsection contains a review of the professional and academic literature. At the beginning of this section, I discuss the steps that were taken to justify the selection of the database, search engines used, key terms, years searched, and types of literature. The literature review that follows is organized by themes, including African American battered women, revictimization, the importance of domestic violence shelters, resources/advocacy, counselors' experiences with battered women, limited resources in domestic violence shelters, and conflict theory. I conclude the literature review with a summary, in which I talk about the gaps and limited research that I found.

In Section 2 of this study, I analyze the research design and data collection in depth. In the introduction to Section 2, I restate the overall social work practice problem. I then address my reasoning in using a basic qualitative design. Next, I outline the study methodology. I discuss how many participants were used, strategies for recruiting participants, and how the participants aligned with the social work practice problem. In discussing instrumentation, I describe the different tools that I used to collect the data for the study. The next major subsection addresses data analysis. I then describe ethical procedures, including those pertaining to the protection of data and the confidentiality of the participants. The last major subsection of Section 2 contains a summary of Section 2.

Problem Statement

The social work practice problem that was the focus of this study was how lack of funding impacts the ability of existing social workers to provide services to African American battered women at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina. Interviews with shelter directors (E. Figgures, personal communication, March 25, 2020; A. Whitehead, personal communication, April 20, 2020; G. Davis, personal communication, April 21, 2020) from different shelters in Columbia, South Carolina it was revealed that all of the shelters were experiencing a lack of funding that impacted the ability of social workers to do their jobs at the domestic violence shelters, this was expressed by all of the directors from each shelter. One major concern was not having enough funding to be able to employ additional needed social workers who had the knowledge, skills, and abilities to work with African American battered women and to decrease their risk of returning to a domestic violence shelter in the future (E. Figgures, personal communication, March 25, 2020). Another director felt that funding issues make it hard for social workers to meet all of the battered women's needs, and this can cause some women to leave the shelter and to return to their partners (A. Whitehead, personal communication, April 20, 2020). At this director's shelter, African American battered women were the largest population that stayed at and revisited the shelter (A. Whitehead, personal communication, April 20, 2020). Another concern was that lack of funding makes it hard for existing social workers to do their job effectively due to being overwhelmed, being overworked, and having high caseloads because there is a need for more social workers (G. Davis, personal communication, April 21, 2020). One director

also stated that due to lack of funding, "the existing social workers are not able to use upto-date training and models to help provide updated services to this population" (G. Davis, personal communication, April 21, 2020).

Scholarly literature has focused on the importance of domestic violence shelters for women (e.g., Bergstrom-Lynch, 2018; Kulkarni et al., 2019; Sullivan et al., 2018), but very few pieces of scholarly literature have focused on how lack of funding has an effect on domestic violence shelters being able to employ sufficient numbers of social workers. While the directors shared some of the problems that they experienced at their shelters due to lack of funding, there had been no formal research conducted on how this affects the abilities of existing social workers at these shelters to provide services to battered African American women clients.

Domestic violence shelters provide support services that include safety planning, crisis intervention, individual and group therapy, advocacy, legal services, and employment assistance, with the provision of these services being based on the funding that is provided for the shelter (Kulkarni et al., 2019). Having sufficient training allows battered women to have success while being at a domestic violence shelter. Kulkarni et al. (2019) stated that the services implemented by social workers help battered women with problems resulting from abusive relationships.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this study was to examine how lack of funding impacts the abilities of existing social workers at domestic violence shelters to provide services to African American battered women. This study was needed to gain an understanding of

the resources and funding that are being used in domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina that have an impact on social workers' abilities to get their job done. This study represents an original contribution to the literature that advances professional social work practice by being one of the first formal research projects to look into how funding limitations affects the abilities of existing social workers at these shelters to provide services to a vulnerable population.

Research Question

RQ—Qualitative: How does the lack of funding impact the abilities of existing social workers to provide services to African American battered women at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina?

Definition of Terms

Battered woman syndrome: A psychological condition that can develop when a person experiences abuse, usually at the hands of an intimate partner (Villines, 2018).

Conflict theory: A theory whose proponents view social and economic institutions as tools of the struggle between groups or classes that are used to maintain inequality and the dominance of the ruling class. It is also used to explain a wide range of social phenomena, including poverty, discrimination, and domestic violence (Barnier, 2020).

Vulnerable population: A disadvantaged subsegment of the community requiring utmost care, specific ancillary considerations and augmented protections in research.

Vulnerable individuals' freedom and capability to protect themselves from intended or

inherent risks are variably abbreviated, from decreased free will to inability to make informed choices (Shivayogi, 2013).

Nature of the Doctoral Project

I adopted a basic qualitative approach for this study. The use of qualitative research allowed for an understanding of how lack of funding impacts the abilities of existing social workers to provide services to African American battered women at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina. Hughes (2017) stated that a qualitative approach is suitable for conducting research where there is little existing research so that initial common issues and experiences can be identified. This helped in gaining an understanding of the problem from social workers' experiences and perspectives. The data for the study included semistructured individual interviews with five social workers who worked at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina. The individual interviews were recorded on the Zoom app so that I could code the data correctly from the interviews.

Significance of the Study

This study may help in gaining an understanding of how lack of funding impacts the abilities of existing social workers to provide services to African American battered women at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina. This study focused on funding issues having an impact on social workers' ability to provide services that battered women need. These funding issues can result in battered women leaving the shelter earlier. This study may foster an improved understanding of ways to better support existing social workers in the hope of more women remaining at the shelter and

getting the help that they need. The results of this study provide insight into how a limited amount of funds makes it hard to employ social workers who have the skills and knowledge to work with this vulnerable population, such as social workers who licensed, have a master's level of education, and have a background in social work. Another insight that this study provides relates to the training and services that are being used. Knowing what training and services that are needed and being used would allow the existing social workers that work at the domestic violence shelters to get training that meets their financial limitations or for the domestic violence shelter to hire social workers who are able to give resources and supportive services to this vulnerable population.

Theoretical/Conceptual Framework

The theoretical framework that was used for this study was conflict theory.

Conflict theory addresses tensions and conflicts that arise when resources, status, and power are unevenly distributed between groups in society; such conflicts can become the engine for social change (Crossman, 2019). Conflict theory is normally used to understand how resources are allocated, such as funding. However, this theory helped me to identify the social work problem by gaining information on how a lack of funding impacts the ability of social workers to provide services to this vulnerable population at domestic violence shelters based on the limited funding that is obtained at the shelters.

Conflict theory also addresses how lack of resources and social structures can have an impact on an individual's life (Koop, 2019). Koop (2019) stated that conflict theory may be used to examine lack of resources and social structures by focusing on the cause and the consequences of a social issue for the social class or population that it is

currently impacting. For example, in this study, the social work practice problem was how funding issues have an impact on social workers being able to do their job in providing and giving sufficient services to battered women at domestic violence shelters, who represent a vulnerable population. However, the social phenomenon in this study was the social issue that the study focused, which was lack of funding having an impact on social workers being able to do their job. This theory helped in analyzing issues and problems based on the impact that lack of funding has on social workers' ability to provide services to African American battered women at domestic violence shelters.

Conflict theory can also be used to look at how resources are allocated. In this study, conflict theory was not used to allocate resources, but to gain an understanding of the distribution of funding by speaking with existing social workers who were working at the domestic violence shelters about the current funds that were being used and that were creating an impact (positive or negative) on service provision for a vulnerable population.

Normally, conflict theory is primarily a macrolevel theoretical framework, but for this study, it was also used from a microlevel perspective. Conflict theory was used at a micro level in this study as I interviewed existing social workers who worked for domestic violence shelters to gain an understanding of their institutional conflicts such as lack of funding that made it hard for them to do their job. At the micro level, I looked at the funding issues that had an impact on African American battered women at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina. I applied conflict theory at a micro level for this study in looking at the issue at a local level rather than over a large area.

Moreover, in this study, only one vulnerable ethnic population was researched. Although

conflict theory is designed to be used at a macro level for some social issues, I adopted this framework at a micro level due to my focus on domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina in which a majority of clients are African American battered women and also due to the participants in the study being a small group, not a large group.

Hagan et al. (2005) used the micro approach with conflict theory in researching African American youth and Latino youth populations being more vulnerable to police contacts. Hagan et al. used microlevel hypotheses regarding African American and Latino adolescents' perceptions of criminal injustice relative to those of Whites and the role of police contacts for the microlevel gradient in race/ethnicity effects. Even though in the Hagan et al. study conflict theory was used at the micro level, the study was still being compared and used at the macro level due to expanding and comparing the social issue to other ethnicity groups instead of using just one ethnicity group. The micro level was also used to gain an understanding of criminal acts and police contacts by the ethnicity group either being African American or Latino, not both groups together. However, in the study, when both groups were used together, the approach became a macrolevel approach.

To expand the use of conflict theory to the macro level in my study involved connecting the funding issues with the programs and services that are limited or not sufficient due to the social work practice problem at the domestic violence shelters. The funding issues having an impact on the programs and services for battered women and the shelters make it difficult for the existing social workers to have the tools and the

materials to do their jobs. Addressing this issue at the macro level as well made it easier to expand improvement to other shelters outside of South Carolina regarding their programs and services that are also being impacted. However, using conflict theory at the micro level helped in addressing the social work practice issue based on the individuals (i.e., the existing social workers) being able to do their job; and then expanding the social work practice issue to programs and services helped conflict theory to be connected at the macro level. Using both the micro and macro levels for this study helped in understanding the social work practice problem by looking at all of the factors and resourcess that come with the use of the domestic violence shelters that can be impacted.

Values and Ethics

NASW (2021) has stated that

the primary mission of the social work profession is to enhance human well-being and help meet the basic human needs of all people, with particular attention to the needs and empowerment of people who are vulnerable, oppressed, and living in poverty. (p. 1)

The NASW Code of Ethics primary mission statement was related to the current social work problem for this study, in that I sought to understand how lack of funding impacts the abilities of existing social workers to provide services to African American battered women, who constitute a vulnerable population. The NASW Code of Ethics was related to this social issue due to the study focusing on a vulnerable population. Examining this social work practice problem was a reflection of the NASW Code of Ethics by creating social change that will help to benefit the clients by bringing awareness and

understanding to this social issue. This will be done by bringing attention to the lack of funding issues regarding existing social workers being able to do their jobs. NASW stated that fundamental to social work is bringing attention to the environmental forces that create, contribute, and solve problems in living. This research reflected this statement by bringing attention to environmental issues that created this social issue. This study supported the values and principles of the NASW Code of Ethics by having the participants, who were social workers at domestic violence shelters to sign an informed consent before starting the study. This project also supported the values and principles of the NASW Code of Ethics in ensuring the privacy and confidentiality of clients by keeping their personal information anonymous. I did not solicit private information from clients unless it was essential to providing services or conducting social work evaluation or research (NASW, 2021). If the participants shared private information, confidentiality was applied as well to protect the participants' information.

Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The articles that I selected for the literature review were related to domestic violence shelters and the resource issues that such shelters have. These articles also focused on the social work problem, which was how lack of funding impacts the abilities of existing social workers to provide services to African American battered women at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina. This social work problem is an issue that is currently taking place in Columbia, South Carolina domestic violence shelters with their existing social workers. No formal research had been done regarding this issue, but there were many research articles that were related to this social problem.

The purpose of this literature review is to show how these articles relate to the social problem, the conflicts that the studies have, the similarities among works in the literature, and the gaps in the literature as it relates to this study's social problem. Within this literature review, the articles are grouped into categories such as the importance of domestic violence shelters, revictimization, resources/advocacy, counselor experiences with battered women, limited resources in domestic violence shelters, and conflict theory. There were a couple of literature review articles that covered every category regarding issues that are going on in domestic violence shelters with social workers and battered women, which I address first. Most of the literature that I found was based on factors and issues that happened at a domestic violence shelter regarding meeting battered women's needs with services, but there was limited literature that addressed lack of funding being a major issue with the social workers being able to do their jobs.

Literature Search Strategy

A literature search was conducted using the Walden Library, Google Scholar, and SOCIndex. The search terms used to locate the articles were as follows: *African*American battered women, battered women, domestic violence shelters, qualitative approach, conflict theory, revictimization, funding issues, shelter limitations, shelter social workers, support, and advocacy. I initially limited the results to full-text, peer-reviewed articles from the last 5 years; however, I included a couple of articles that were older than 5 years due to a lack of updated research. Using a qualitative approach as one of my major search terms was a reason that many of the articles were found. There were 41 articles found for this study, and 40 articles met the criteria with the research method,

population, and domestic violence shelters that the study focused on. There was only one article that met the criteria for the theoretical framework that was found. Out of the 41 articles that were found, seven articles were duplicates of original articles that were used for this study. In this section of the literature review, articles are grouped into categories that are related to the research topic and issues. The categories' order is as follows:

African American battered women, revictimization, the importance of domestic violence shelters, resources/advocacy, counselors' experiences with battered women, limited resources in domestic violence shelters, and conflict theory.

Funding Challenges in Programs at Domestic Violence Shelters

According to the National Network to End Domestic Violence (NNEDV, 2011), domestic violence programs and shelters across the country are operating with fewer funds and fewer resources for staff. The issue with funding can have an impact on the ability of the existing social workers at the domestic violence shelter to provide sufficient services and programs to the battered women who reach out to or visit the shelters. Stable funding in domestic violence shelters helps to ensure that the services and the programs that are being used in the shelters are essential to battered women (NNEDV, 2011). In a study by Chang et al. (2003), the focus was on battered women with disabilities being able to get services from domestic violence shelters. The study found that challenges to serving battered women with disabilities were lack of funding and structural limitations in the programs (Chang et al., 2003). The participants in the study were the service providers, who explained that "lack of funding made it difficult to ensure adequate staffing, provide sufficient training for staff, purchase equipment, and make the structural

changes in their shelters necessary to meet the needs of women with disabilities" (Chang et al., 2003, p. 704). In a study by Kay (2012), the focus was on a substantial decrease in shelter services when it came to funding sources and prevention efforts to assist battered women. Kay's study found that there was an economic decline and that shelters had to reduce services; 47% decreased child care efforts, which meant that they were not able to help one in four children. Kay's study also found that due to the economic decline, 92% of shelters had to end or scale back specific programs and services. Due to the devastating impact of the economic decline on domestic violence services and programs, many shelters had to reduce the number of clients that came or close their doors because there were not enough funds to help battered women (Kay, 2012). Based on funding issues having a major impact on shelters, more work needs to be done to improve this issue.

African American Battered Women

The African American population was used for this study due to African American battered women constituting the majority of those in the shelters in Columbia, South Carolina. Anyikwa (2015) stated that national and community studies report greater incidence and prevalence rates of intimate partner violence for African American women than for other racial groups. This may be due to not seeking help or not having help-seeking strategies. In the Anyikwa study, the participants were African American women who had experienced abuse; Anyikwa studied the ways that the women sought help or the barriers to help seeking. In this study, it was found that the women would get informal help that came from family members, friends, or people in the community

whom they felt comfortable with (Anyikwa, 2015). Aniykwa's study also found that barriers preventing African American women seeking help included the women feeling that they would not be treated fairly, concerns regarding their children, and fear of how the police would treat their partners.

Hodges and Cabanilla (2011) also stated that African American battered women consider family members, friends, and individuals from the community to be their social support. When African American women ask for help from social services, it may be considered disrespectful because African American families often like for their personal business, such as problems or abuse in the home, to remain private (Hodges & Cabanilla, 2011). Hodges and Cabanilla stated that "human services professionals working with Black victims must respect their cultural values and accept the role of support networks within the Black community" (p. 121). Failure of human services professionals to respect African American battered women can cause a barrier preventing African American battered women from wanting to seek help.

Grossman and Lundy (2011) found in their study that African American battered women were the largest minority group among those using services in domestic violence shelters, even though it was frowned upon by their families. Even though shelter services were frowned upon by some African American women's families, the battered women found the resources from the shelters useful because before they entered into the shelter, they had few resources (Grossman & Lundy, 2011).

When African American battered women decide to seek formal counseling, advocacy may be what is helpful for them (Weisz, 2005). Weisz (2005) conducted a

study to determine the effectiveness of advocacy for African American battered women as it dealt with women getting help with assessing their situations, provided information about legal processes, and provided referrals for additional resources. The Weisz study found that some African American battered women found such advocacy helpful and some did not, due to the advocate being unavailable, not understanding, being unsympathetic, or being ineffective in implementing legal sanctions against abusers. Wiesz recommended that in the future, there should be more training for effective advocacy and more help with safety planning.

Few (2005) stated that African American battered women did not use shelters due to lack of trust in social services. Shelters also were not used due to African American battered women not being aware of the shelters existing in their communities (Few, 2005). The Few study compared the experiences of White battered women and African American battered women who visited a shelter for help, safety, and assistance regarding their abuse. The Few study found that members of both racial groups felt safe and had good services while in the shelter; however, the African American women had some challenges. Few stated that there was an absence of staff being African American and that the African American women felt isolated and concerned about the racial attitudes that staff had against them. Overall, the African American battered women felt that the shelter services were very helpful (Few, 2005).

There have been issues because African American battered women have not been able to access a shelter or services due to not having any information regarding services to help them. Bent-Goodley (2004) conducted a study that focused on African American

battered women's perceptions of abuse and being able to find services. In the Bent-Goodley study, it was found that domestic violence shelters were perceived as not being accessible both physically and verbally. The women in the Bent-Goodley study were able to mention other services related to the needs of their community but none regarding domestic violence shelters. In those shelters that the African American women did have access to, there were structural issues hindering African American women from being able to participate successfully. Bent-Goodley's study also found that the shelters that were accessible did not provide the hours that the women needed, the cost was too high, and when women were referred to another agency or shelter, there were no open spots for new clients. When the shelters that are accessible are not able to meet some of their needs, African American battered women may quit using services or leave a shelter.

Dichter and Rhodes (2011) explored services that battered women used that helped meet their needs at a domestic violence shelter. In the Dichter and Rhodes study, it was found that many of the participants did not like the use of domestic violence shelters because they did not meet their needs, and the participants in the study were predominantly African American battered women from a single urban community. Research has suggested that African American women who have experienced intimate partner violence may have experienced childhood maltreatment, which is linked to African American women who have low income (Patel et al., 2012). Patel et al. (2012) found that African American women who have a history of childhood maltreatment as it relates to abuse or neglect endorse high levels of intimate partner violence.

Revictimization

Regarding the social issues of lack of funding having an impact on existing social workers being able to do their jobs in domestic violence shelters for African American battered women, there are concerns of revictimization of African American women who leave the shelter due to their needs not being met. Dinwiddie et al. (2019) conducted a study to assess the risk factors for revictimization for African American women who are using domestic violence shelters. The participants in this study were 57 women presently living in a domestic violence shelter that was located in a large Midwestern metropolitan area in the United States. The majority of the participants in this study were African American battered women. Dinwiddie et al. used a danger assessment and the Ontario Domestic Assault Risk Assessment to evaluate the abuse of the African American battered women that were currently at domestic violence shelters. These assessments help to indicate why battered women choose to leave an abusive relationship to go to a battered women's shelter. Domestic violence shelters have a role in supporting victims who are leaving abusive relationships to be able to gain their independence. Fisher and Stylianou (2019) conducted a study showing that there is more than one factor that plays a role in battered women staying in a shelter after leaving an abusive relationship, but one factor that is important is the shelter being able to meet the battered women's needs based on support from the staff and the services that are being provided. Based on these studies, not having certain needs met in the shelters for this vulnerable population can cause revictimization.

Importance of Domestic Violence Shelters

The use of domestic violence shelters is an important component of the effort to help battered women who leave an abusive relationship. Muftić et al. (2019) stated that the shelter movement was born out of a dire need for places of refuge for battered women. Ben-Porat and Sror-Bondarevksy (2018) stated that women's shelters are the most established services for women who are victims of intimate partner violence against women. Based on the findings in the Ben-Porat and Sror-Bondarevksy study, women who stay in domestic violence shelters longer have more positive outcomes, which are based on the women's needs and expectations being met. A domestic violence shelter tends to be a safe and secure environment for battered women that helps in giving them support. Baholo et al. (2015) found that the battered women in their study found the domestic violence shelter to be essential, especially in helping them to adhere to their decision to leave violent partners. Baholo et al. also found that the shelter was peaceful and safe for the battered women, and three women in the study felt that if they had known about the use of a domestic violence shelter earlier, they would have left their abusive relationships.

Domestic violence shelters, in addition to being safe and secure, are important due to the services that are provided, especially regarding self-empowerment. Sullivan et al. (2018) found that the use of services that promote self-empowerment makes a shelter stay for women successful and makes it easier for the women to stay longer. Sullivan and Virden (2017) found that another reason that women stayed longer in a shelter was the emotional support/services that the women received. Sullivan and Virden stated that the

emotional support helped the battered women to respond to their own wants and needs and to understand domestic violence, which is another important function of domestic violence shelters for battered women. This helps to prepare the women to be able to get back on their feet to live a normal life without abuse. Sullivan and Virden also found in their study that the ability of advocates to provide survivors with the type of support they need can increase their sense of hope for the future.

Allen et al. (2017) showed the importance of the impact of staying at and using a domestic violence shelter. Allen et al. found that a shelter does not just help battered women with the attainment of future goals, but also helps women experience a decrease in depression and anxiety as well as an increase in autonomy, ability to obtain resources, and overall well-being. Some women only receive effective services by going into a domestic violence shelter (Grossman et al., 2010). Grossman et al. (2010) conducted a study to explore whether battered women get more resources by using a shelter or other services rather than the use of a shelter. The study found that many of the participants only used resources that were available to them while in the shelter, rather than using outside public services that the shelter did not provide (Grossman et al., 2010). Grossman et al. also stated that their analysis "supports that shelters are an essential component of the service system for women who are victims of violence" (p. 2086).

Resources/Advocacy

Regarding the importance of domestic violence shelters, there are also factors such as resources and advocacy that play a major factor regarding the existing social workers that are working in the domestic violence shelters. The role of existing social

workers working in domestic violence shelters is to be able to provide sufficient resources and advocacy to this vulnerable population to help the women to have a successful outcome to be able to not go back to their abuser. Hughes's (2017) study found that the resources and advocacy that was being used in domestic violence shelters was very helpful to their wellbeing. This allows for the battered women to be very comfortable in the shelter due to the services being provided by the social workers. In the Hughes study, the researcher interviewed advocates from the shelter and found that it is the staff job to make the battered women feel comfortable when they first enter the shelter. This study also found that being provided sufficient services made it easier for the women to want to stay in the shelter because the environment made it feel like home, so that the battered women could have been able to meet their goals (Hughes, 2017). Being able to provide adequate resources and advocacy to the battered women helps the women to want to stay longer in the shelter (Perez -Trujillo & Quintane, 2017). Perez-Trujillo and Quintane (2017) found in their study that battered women tend to stay longer in shelters or continue to utilize shelters when their needs are being met. Wood (2015) found that there are several advocacy practices that are used at domestic violence shelters such as empowerment, feminism, and strength-based perspective. With these services and resources being put in place it allowed the battered women to make goals that mattered to them and to help them to be able to build a positive sense of self (Wood, 2015). There are other resources/advocacy services for the battered women such as safety planning, crisis intervention, individual and group therapy, legal services, and employment assistance (Kulkarni et al., 2019). For the domestic violence shelters to be able to provide these

resources and services, Kulkarni et al. (2019) found that team building with the staff to be able to provide supported culture and environmental services allows the battered women to feel comfortable while being in the shelter to help begin their healing process. Due to team building with the staff and social workers at the domestic violence shelter, this process helps the understanding of how important implements successful services and resources that are provided to the battered women. With implementing this approach there are educational resources to help with safety planning. Murray et al. (2015) study showed that safety planning allows the battered women at domestic violence shelters to feel safe and it allows clients to gain a clearer perspective of their situation. Also, with advocacy and resources in domestic violence shelters there are other factors such as interaction during advocacy, a safe base for support, access and connection, and collaboration with the client that make the voluntary services important to the battered women that are staying in the shelters. These factors were used in the Wood et al. (2020) study by interviewing the battered women using the voluntary services model. Wood et al. found that the use of a voluntary services model helps show that the advocacy services help with healing the women which brings a positive interaction between the advocate and the client which is the battered woman based off the guidance, empowerment, advocate skills, and the equitable treatment. In the Johnson and Zlotnick (2012) study, the researchers wanted to explore the remission of post traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) after victims of domestic violence leave the shelter. Johnson's and Zlotnick's study also found that battered women who use shelters or revisit shelters have a greater chance of having PTSD due to the women being able to use shelter services. A limitation the

Johnson's and Zlotnick's study found is for the shelters to have more services to help work with the battered women who have PTSD. This continues to show the overall importance of having sufficient advocacy and resources being put in place in domestic violence shelters to meet the needs of the battered women.

Limitation of Resources/Barriers

Even though domestic violence shelters are an important component that comes with resources and advocacy to the battered women, there are also limitations that come along with it. There can be limitations regarding resources, housing, and funding in the domestic violence shelters, which can cause an impact on the existing social workers and staff being able to perform their job. Burnett et al. (2016) conducted a study that found that the battered women they were dealing with were from a poverty community and the workers felt that there was a poverty of resources to be able to support the women in the shelter. Due to the shelter being a poor shelter there are not enough resources that will be able to meet the battered women's needs. However, this is a day-to-day reality in many shelters in Columbia, South Carolina due to not having enough resources to meet the battered women's needs that go into the shelters because of limited funding. Burnett et al. also found that having limited resources can impact the staff being able to support the women and also being able to give the women great opportunities to be ready to step back in the world. Bergstorm-Lynch (2018) found that services regarding empowerment in the domestic violence shelter felt that the direct services workers were not following policies regarding services due to funding limitations at the shelter which had fewer paid staff members and other resources that were needed to serve residents that were not

available at the shelter. With funding being a limitation, there are other barriers that have taken place at domestic violence shelters that makes it hard for the staff to be able to provide sufficient services for the battered women. Brown et al. (2020) also found in their study that some challenges in the provision of services were noted by the shelter workers to be lack of funding and housing, and mental health and communal living. Bowstead (2015) found that funding is a limitation due to being cut by the government. Having the government cut funding for the domestic violence shelters makes it hard for the staff to effectively provide services and meet the needs for the battered women that go into the shelter for help and safety (Bowstead, 2015). With the limitation of funding there comes a lack of resources to be able to provide training for the staff to be able to meet the needs of the clients that stay at the shelter or to be able to hire staff as well (Brown et al., 2020). The lack of resources can result in the clients returning to unhealthy relationships. Brown et al. found that shelters are successful and will aid the women to become self-sufficient, but this can become a challenge with the staff not being able to provide services due to the limitations of funding and resources. Grubb et al. (2018) conducted a study regarding domestic violence services in Bosnia and Herzegovina and Texas to see if the services meet the needs of the clients that were in the shelter. Based on the Grubb et al. study there was more than one barrier that was found regarding both the Bosnia and Herzegovina and Texas community. The study found that there was a lack of transportation, lack of trust from the clients to the providers, and inconvenient hours maintained by services providers. These barriers were present in both Bosnia and Herzegovina and in Texas. Another barrier that has been found is dealing with the

policies that are being used in domestic violence shelters. Burnett et al. (2015) found that policy inadequacies actually perpetuated reliance on the system by limiting women's access to options and resources that could enhance self-reliance. Some of the policies in the domestic violence shelter can make it hard for the staff working in the shelter to be able to do their work without being burned out. Burnett et al. study also found that based on the staff members response, the staff members are overloaded with case work to the point that some clients have to wait awhile to get seen by the staff or to receive some services. Based on these limitations of staff workers being overloaded with work, there has been a high turnover rate for women that are willing to stay in the shelters no longer than six weeks. The social workers at the domestic violence shelter also face barriers when it comes down to being able to advocate successfully for the battered women. Merchant and Whiting (2015) did a study where the participants were current and former shelter workers. They found that one major challenge was being able to balance advocacy roles, which is observed to be from the workers not being able to cope emotionally with client's stories and being able to manage the day-to-day chaos of shelter life. This can include the social workers having to be the kitchen staff, being security, a residential advocate, and a police advocate due to there being no one else to help with these roles; which made the staff become overwhelmed (Merchant & Whiting, 2015). It was also found that there are limitations and challenges that the battered women that lived in the shelters face for being able to gain access to legal services. Wright and Bertrand (2017) found using a client survey and a staff focus group that the barriers with accessing legal services due to lack of on-site legal resources through the shelter, long wait times for the

onsite legal clinics, and the clients not being able to have any access to a legal clinic or information. Another limitation regarding resources in domestic violence shelters can come from the staff not being properly trained. Clevenger and Roe-Sepowitz (2009) found in their study that a change in the shelters staff education and training could strengthen and improve the responses to the battered women's calls for assistance, and this can help the woman to develop a decision to utilize the shelter or not to utilize the shelter. Nnawulezi and Sullivan's (2014) study found that one limitation that has limited research regarding domestic violence shelters is the racism towards African American battered women. Nnawulezi and Sullivan stated that concerns have been raised that some shelter programs are not as welcoming or relevant to Black survivors as it is to White victims due to the lack of cultural competence. Since the lack of cultural competence is a barrier to African American battered women, the women find it hard for the staff to not be able to meet their needs because of the lack of sensitivity; this can make the women feel isolated (Nnawulezi & Sullivan, 2014). However, having these limitations from these above studies shows how this can cause a major impact on the existing social workers being able to provide services to their clients which are battered women.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework that will be used in this study will be conflict theory.

The use of conflict theory being used in this study is to analyze the issues and problems based on the impact that the lack of funding has on the social worker's ability to be able to provide services to African American battered women at domestic violence shelters.

Conflict theory was created by Marx to be able to be committed to changing social

structures by altering the course of social processes (Turner, 1975). Turner (1975) stated that Marx conflict theory "reflected political commitment to activating conflicts which would change the structure of society" (p. 619). Marx looked at conflict as a reflection of instinctual impulses and conflicts of interest as these are mitigated by other associative instincts and social processes (Turner, 1975). Conflict theory was developed to be used at the macro level. Onyesom and Igbesi (2015) stated that "changes in the social environment such as contestable access to new political positions or perceptions of new resources arising from development in the physical environment are fertile grounds for conflicts involving individuals and groups, who are interested in using the new resources to achieve their goals" (pg.1). The use of conflict theory being used in the macro setting helps to not exclude any groups when dealing with a social issue (Onyesom & Igbesi, 2015). The macro settings can include society, age group or age bracket, population groups, countries, economies, social class, etc. Macro level conflicts are expressions of existing adversaries' relationships through aggressive behaviors which is a result of unresolved incompatible interest in the social structure of the system or organization (Onyesom & Igbesi, 2015). Conflict theory being used at the macro level also helps to focus on the broader impacts or effects of conflict (Onyesom & Igbesi, 2015). Onyesom and Igbesi stated that "macro conflict goes beyond an individual or organization and conflict at the macro level changes social stratification, economic power and diplomatic stance of a society and thereby its future" (p. 3.1). Conflict theory also looks at the impact of resources at a macro level, since conflict can emerge due to resources (Onyesom & Igbesi, 2015). An example of conflict emerging due to resources is when

there are two or more groups that aspire for the same scarce resources and one of the aspiring parties has more advantage over the other parties to have access to the resources.

However, there is no current literature where conflict theory is used in studies that focus on funding and resources with the battered women population, but there is a study that used conflict theory to focus on the vulnerable population of those who were affected by disasters in their communities with resource issues. Lapsley (2019) used conflict theory to focus on the unequal resources available after a disaster in specific communities. Lapsley's study found that conflict theory aligns with the survey responses from participants who are economically disadvantaged that the lack of resources found it difficult to recover quickly after a disaster. This article helps show how conflict theory is used to be able to look into the lack of resources that seems to have an effect or impact on vulnerable populations.

Omer and Jabeen (2016) stated that "Karl Max conflict theory looks at the functions and role of social institutions to be best understood by its economic system" (p. 196). The Omer and Jabeen study used conflict theory to determine the difference between public and private school facilities that affect the quality of education. Omer and Jabeen found that public schools have fewer resources and things available for their students than private schools students. Based on these findings from Omer and Jabeen study, the private school students having more resources makes it easier for them to have more available life opportunities than the students in public school. Due to the use of conflict theory in the Omer and Jabeen study bringing the awareness of the outcomes of inequality and limited resources being an impact on public school students rather than

private school students, shows the reason for using conflict theory for this study to be able to explore and bring awareness on how funding issues impact existing social workers being able to provide services to African American battered women. Conflict theory can also bring awareness on how funding issues affect domestic violence programs which also makes it hard for the existing social workers at the shelters being able to do their jobs for this study.

Conflict theory is also used to help resolve issues that are being made in a workplace environment that can become an impact on the workplace. In the Dunbar (2018) study, the researcher used another form of conflict theory which is called the theory of realistic conflict. Dunbar used this type of conflict theory to help civilian small business managers working on a military base to help reduce issues and conflicts in the workplace by putting goals and strategies in place to improve the issue. Dunbar's study found that if the managers in the workplace were aware of the conflicts and issues that were going on, then strategies can be put into place to mitigate those factors. Therefore, this is a reason why conflict theory is being used for this study to be able to get the social workers that are working at the shelters to be able to come up with strategies based on their experience with the social work practice problem to be able to reduce the impact the funding issues have on the social workers being able to do their job. Dunbar stated that "recognizing opportunities for leaders to develop or expand their conflict resolution strategies could ultimately help to reduce conflict in the workplace" (p. 6). The use of conflict theory will help with the ultimate goal of this study which is to come up with strategies to reduce the impact of the funding issues in Columbia, South Carolina so that

the outcome of this study could be used to expand to other shelters outside of Columbia, South Carolina.

Literature Review Summary

Based on the literature that has been reviewed, a gap that has been observed is there is no formal research on this social issue with this vulnerable population in Columbia, South Carolina. Even with the battered women population there is limited research on how the lack of funding has an impact on existing social workers being able to provide services to African American battered women. There are more articles that only look at this issue from the battered women perspective rather than the existing social workers perspective. It was also found from the articles that most of the participants were staff such as either volunteers, directors, or other executives; but not many were social workers. Another gap from the articles was that there were no current articles that used conflict theory as the theoretical framework as it relates to this social issue and this vulnerable population. However, most of the literature used a qualitative study just like this study and also showed the use of how important it is to use this approach when working with this population.

Summary

In Section 1, I highlighted how battered women would leave their abusive relationship to go to a domestic violence shelter for resources and advocacy especially in the African American population. It was also highlighted on how the existing social workers have an impact with providing sufficient services to this vulnerable population due to limitations such as funding and resources. This section also shows how the use of

conflict theory will be used to help with gaining and understanding of the current social issue. I also included a significant amount of literature that showed the importance of domestic violence shelters, and the impact of having limited resources and funding. Based on the literature review, there was a gap where there is no formal research of this social issue being done in Columbia, South Carolina, and also no current literature that used conflict theory as the theoretical framework. In Section 2, I will follow with a description of the research design, methodology, participants, instrumentation, data analysis, and ethical procedures.

Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection

Introduction

When I was in the master's program at Walden University, I had the opportunity to do my clinical internship at a domestic violence shelter in Columbia, South Carolina called Sister Care. While at Sister Care, I was able to spend time with the social workers and the battered women. In my observations, there were not as many social workers on the staff compared to staff members that were not social workers due to funding issues. Many of the staff at the domestic violence shelter told me that most of the battered women who come to the shelter have multiple stays and visits due to revictimization. After learning this information at Sister Care, I wanted to gain more information regarding the reason for battered women to have multiple visits and stays. However, once I became a doctoral student working on my prospectus, I found out that the issues that the domestic violence shelters were having in Columbia, South Carolina were due to funding issues. After speaking with the shelter directors, I learned that funding issues have an impact on the ability of the social workers to provide sufficient services to battered women, especially African American women, due to this group being the largest population that enters and visit the shelters in Columbia, South Carolina. I found that there were not enough articles on this topic, and that no formal research had been done on funding issues affecting social workers at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina. This is why this study focused on the social work problem of how lack of funding impacts the abilities of existing social workers to provide services to African American battered women at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina.

I used a basic qualitative design for this study to address the social work problem. This research design helped in gaining insight into the social work problem based on the existing social workers' experience at the domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina. I conducted semistructured individual interviews with five existing social workers at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina. The interviews were held virtually on a computer app called Zoom due to the COVID-19 pandemic and social distancing requirements, to ensure that everyone was safe. While on the Zoom app, the participants answered questions regarding the social work issue to enable me to understand the funding issue's impact on existing social workers. For ethical reasons, there was a consent form that every participant had to sign before the start of the individual interviews, which let the participants know that the virtual meeting would be recorded. Recording the meetings made it easy to collect the data from the individual interviews for analysis.

Research Design

The research design of this study was a basic qualitative approach. The basic qualitative approach helped in exploring the social work issue of how lack of funding impacts the abilities of existing social workers to provide services to African American battered women at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina. Teherani et al. (2015) stated that the use of the basic qualitative approach can show how people experience aspects of their lives, how individuals and/or groups behave, how organizations function, and how interactions shape relationships. To explore the impact

of funding issues, I had to gain an understanding of this social issue through the existing social workers who were currently working at the domestic violence shelters.

The research question for this study was the following: How does the lack of funding impact the abilities of existing social workers to provide services to African American battered women at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina? This research question was helpful in gaining an understanding of the study problem. I sought to explore the existing social workers' experiences with these social issues while currently working at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina. This aligned with the purpose of this study as I explored this social issue in depth by using semistructured individual interviews to be able to speak to and gather information from the participants.

Methodology

The method for collecting the data for this study was the use of semistructured individual interviews. Souza de Oliveira Lima and Pacheco (2016) stated that semistructured individual interviews allow researchers to obtain in-depth data involving open and flexible questions that allow more details. For this study, the semistructured individual interviews were used to help gain an understanding of the social work issue by having a discussion with the participants regarding their experiences with the issue.

Another reason that semistructured interviewing was used was because it helped to make the participants feel comfortable when discussing the social work problem instead of making them feel on edge. The semistructured individual interviews were relatively unthreatening to the participants and allowed an open environment for the participants to

feel comfortable to discuss their thoughts, perceptions, and opinions on the social work practice issue. The use of semistructured individual interviews prompted discussions that helped in achieving a positive outcome from the information that was gained.

Participants

The original number of participants that I wanted for the study was six to eight. However, only five participants volunteered to be part of the study. Ravitch and Carl (2016) stated that there is no certain number of participants required for qualitative research. The participants were social workers who were currently working at a domestic violence shelter in Columbia, South Carolina. The reason that the participants were existing social workers who were working at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina was that the social issue focused on how the funding issue impacts the existing social workers' abilities to do their job. Ravitch and Carl stated that participants in qualitative research are chosen to thoroughly answer the research question of the study. Using these participants aligned with the practice-focused question of this study because the existing social workers were the individuals that the study focused on, due to being impacted by the social issue. Additionally, a sample size of five existing social workers made it easy to have a small discussion and for every participant to have a chance to speak fairly regarding the social work issue of the study, due to being able to talk one on one with me.

Instruments

In this study, there were no instruments, but semistructured individual interviews were used to help gain an understanding of the practice problem based on the experience

and information that were taken from the existing social workers at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina (see Appendix A). The semistructured interviews allowed the participants to have an open discussion in which they shared their information comfortably. Due to the pandemic, the individual interviews were conducted on Zoom to ensure that everyone was safe and continued to practice social distancing. During the individual interviews, I asked open-ended questions regarding the funding issues that were occurring, the impact of the social issue, and how the funding issues were impacting the existing social workers' ability to provide sufficient services to African American battered women. I developed the open-ended questions for the individual interviews with assistance from my committee. The use of the open-ended questions in the individual interviews allowed the participants to give detailed responses to the questions to help with the discussion in the interviews.

Data Analysis

Before data collection began, I obtained approval for the interview questions from the Institutional Review Board (IRB). After getting approval from the IRB for the questions, I reached out to domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina to get participants for the study. I reached out to the shelters by calling to speak to the shelter directors about recruiting social workers at the shelter, as well as about any paperwork that would need to be filled out to use the social workers as participants. However, I had already made some shelter directors aware of the study when I was interviewing the directors before the research began to get their input on the social work practice problem.

The criteria that the participants had to meet were (a) having a degree in social work (either a bachelor's or master's degree) and (b) currently working at a domestic violence shelter. The criterion of possessing a bachelor's or master's degree was applied because a lot of shelters in Columbia, South Carolina do not have enough funds to hire master's degree social workers. Many of the shelters have social workers who only have bachelor's degrees.

Once the participants were chosen, they received an informed consent to sign, which contained a summary of what the study was about. After the informed consent was signed, the participants met on Zoom to complete the individual interview process regarding the social work practice problem. Each Zoom meeting was audio recorded to help me with coding. The use of qualitative coding helped in finding themes and patterns in the data that were collected from the individual interviews and put in transcript form. Coding the data helps with seeing the credibility and validity of the study from the use of the themes and patterns that were analyzed from the interviews. The coding helped with credibility and validity by showing the themes and patterns that stood out most based on the responses from the participants in the study.

Ethical Procedures

I took many steps to ensure that the participants were protected and that information was kept confidential. The first step that was taken to ensure the confidentiality and safety of the participants was informed consent. The informed consent document had an outline of what the participants would be doing in the study. The informed consent also informed the participants that at any time during the study, if the

they wanted to withdraw or leave the study, they could. Further, the informed consent document indicated that during the study, the participants' names would not be released or used. The participants' names were replaced with numbers (e.g., Participant 1, Participant 2). The only thing that was shared about the participants was that they were existing social workers at the domestic violence agencies used in the study. The reason why the participants' names have not been released is because I needed to ensure that each participant could speak freely about the social issues of interest. Having their names remain confidential allowed for the participants to feel comfortable when speaking and discussing the social work practice problem, which helped in gathering a lot of data and information from the individual interviews. The individuals who had access to the data were me and the members of the Walden committee who were supervising and guiding me. The IRB approval number is 07-14-21-0640219.

When the individual interviews were conducted on Zoom, participants who had signed the consent form were the only individuals who received the passcode to get onto the Zoom app for an individual interview. To continue to keep the participants' information confidential, I informed them that when the Zoom meeting was audio recorded, they could turn their cameras off during the interview. The data will be kept for at least 5 years, as required by the university.

Summary

In Section 2, I highlighted data collection and analysis procedures. I collected data for this study by using semistructured individual interviews with existing social workers from the domestic violence shelters, which I conducted using Zoom. Having the data

collection be done using individual interviews made it easier for me to use a qualitative coding method to analyze patterns and themes in the data that were gathered from the individual interviews. The findings are discussed in the next section.

Section 3: Presentation of the Findings

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to examine how lack of funding impacts the abilities of existing social workers at domestic violence shelters to provide services to African American battered women. To examine how lack of funding has an impact on existing social workers doing their job, I used semistructured individual interviews with social workers who were currently working at a domestic violence shelter in Columbia, South Carolina.

This section is broken down into two major subsections. The first major subsection addresses the data analysis techniques. In the data analysis technique section, I explain how the data collection process started and how the recruitment of the participants occurred. I also focus on the procedures that were used to collect the data and present a summary of the validation procedures. The limitation of problems that were encountered during data collection is also discussed. The second major subsection contains the study's findings. The findings section focuses on the descriptive statistics from the basic qualitative research method that was used for the study. The findings section also gives information regarding how the data answered the research question, including a table that illustrates results from the findings of the study, presented as major themes, categories, subcategories, and codes.

Data Analysis Techniques

Time Frame of Data Collection

I received IRB approval on July 14, 2021 (IRB #07-14-21-0640219), and I started my recruitment process on July 20, 2021. The data collection for the study started with phone calls in which I reached out to domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina to see if any social workers were interested in participating in the study. I sent out a recruitment letter through my Walden email to the potential participants' email addresses. Once the recruitment letters were sent out, the participants responded to me via email or telephone regarding their interest in the study. Once I knew which social workers were interested in the study, I sent out the consent form via email. The participants sent an email back stating, "I consent." I sent out recruitment letters to eight participants, but only five participants were interested and met all the requirements to be participants in the study. It took 3 weeks to perform the individual interviews on the Zoom app with each participant. Each participant was only interviewed one time. The first interview that I had with a participant was on July 28, 2021, and the last interview with the last participant was on August 11, 2021.

Data Analysis Procedures

Semistructured individual interviews were held. After all the participants were interviewed, I used Rev.com to get each interview transcribed. After each interview was

transcribed, I manually coded the data from the study using qualitative analysis. Before I started coding, I listened to the Zoom recordings from the interviews to ensure that all the information that was transcribed from Rev.com was correct. I used a whiteboard to help determine codes from each of the interviews. The coding methods that were used to code were descriptive coding and in vivo coding. In descriptive coding, the researcher is able to analyze data by describing what was found in the interviews by summarizing what the participants stated to be able to categorize the data in codes (Saldana, 2021). In vivo coding involves taking the participants' exact words (verbatim) from the data to put them into codes and categories (Saldana, 2021). Due to manually coding, the coding process took me 2 weeks to complete. I took 2 days to perform descriptive coding and 2 days to do in vivo coding. I read through every interview multiple times to find patterns with codes. Due to coding manually, I used a whiteboard to be able to see the codes visually. I did descriptive coding first, and my second round of coding was in vivo. There were a total of 64 codes from descriptive coding and a total of 32 codes from in-vivo coding. Before categorizing the codes, I combined both codes and went through the interviews one more time to ensure that there were no other codes missing. Once the descriptive and in vivo codes were combined, I looked for patterns to help put the codes into categories. A total of 29 codes were broken up into categories with both descriptive and in vivo coding combined. Before the major categories were formed, subcategories helped in

identifying major categories. Five themes were ultimately developed to answer the research question.

Validation Procedures

During the data collection, I used reflexive journaling to help identify and address any biases that came up during the interview process. Journaling allowed me to keep an open mind and perspective during each participant interview. During data analysis, I used different techniques to ensure that the data collection would be valid. I did use two forms of qualitative coding to make sure that the coding from the data collection was reliable. Coding the data twice allowed me to see the codes that were repeated and to uncover new codes that were overlooked during the first coding process.

Limitations

There were a couple of problems encountered when conducting the study related to getting participants. I had a challenging time getting six or more participants due to the COVID-19 pandemic, as many of the social workers were no longer working at the domestic violence shelters. Another limitation was that there were not as many social workers working in domestic violence shelters; most of the workers were staff members or volunteers who helped with the shelter but were not social workers.

Findings

Characteristics of the Participants

Recruitment for this study focused on social workers with either a bachelor's in social work or a master's in social work degree. Participants had to be currently employed at a domestic violence shelter in Columbia, South Carolina. Five participants were recruited and interviewed via Zoom. All interviews were audio-recorded.

Participants' demographics were documented regarding race, gender identity, and college degree. The domestic violence shelter that the participants worked in were not disclosed to help maintain the participants' confidentiality.

Of the five participants, there were four females and one male. There was no specific age range required to participate in this study. The average number of years worked at the domestic violence shelter ranged from 2 to 17. There were four African American participants and one White participant. Four of the participants had a master's in social work degree, and one participant had a bachelor's in social work degree.

Research Question Findings

Social workers who are currently working in domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina have come into conflict with funding limitations that have impacted the way in which they are able to provide services to their clients. After I manually coded the data, five themes emerged to answer the research question: How does the lack of funding impact the abilities of existing social workers to provide services to African American battered women at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina? The themes were (a) limited programmatic and therapeutic access, (b) inability

to update training and tools to access current needs, (c) barriers to retaining experienced social workers, (d) insufficient number of social workers, and (e) limited access to services to meet the needs of battered African American women. Under the five major themes, there was one major category for each; two major categories had two subcategories. Table 1 outlines the major theme, categories, subcategories, and codes.

Table 1 *Major Themes, Categories, Subcategories, and Codes*

Major themes	Categories	Subcategories	Codes
1. Limited programmatic and therapeutic access	Resources	Counseling	Individual counseling Group counseling Onsite counseling Offsite counseling
		Program services	Residential housing Legal advocacy Shelter housing Outside programs
2. Inability to update trainings and tools to access current needs	Training and modules	Limited access to training	No updated skills More education In-depth training
		Revamp modules	Up-to-date modules New programs Updated with the population of today
3. Barriers to retaining experienced social workers	Employee retention		Payment rate low Salaries No experienced social workers Not getting paid
4. Insufficient amount of social workers	Workplace availability		Burned out Frustrated Too many clients Not enough social workers Lack of support
5. Limited access to services to meet the needs of battered African American women	Lack of knowledge and services		Trust Not feeling comfortable Useless services Criteria unmet

Theme 1: Limited Programmatic and Therapeutic Access

The first primary theme that helped in answering the research question regarding how the lack of funding impacted the existing social workers' ability to provide services to their clients was the impact of limited programs and therapeutic access that the social workers did not have based on the limitation of funding. Every participant agreed that due to the funding limitation, there was an impact on resources that the social workers used to provide services to the battered women at the shelter. The definition of this theme is that the lack of funds made it difficult for the existing social workers to provide counseling and program services to their clients.

Participants described resources that were limited based on the funding issues.

Limited resources included onsite counseling, individual counseling, and onsite programs. Participant 4 stated, "there are not enough programs and services available onsite due to not having the proper funds available to have services for the clients."

Participant 4 also stated, "there is more of treatment plans and assessment than counseling services for their participants due to being a nonprofit shelter." Participant 5 identified that a lack of onsite counseling due to the funding not being provided, noting that the shelter would have to send clients to an outside program if there was any availability. Participant 2 stated that "due to funding coming mainly from donations there is limited access to services that can be used." Participant 4 also mentioned "barriers with getting services and getting the help the clients need; depend upon the resources that are available." Participant 1 further stated, "we're always struggling to have more resources for our clients; therefore, we could certainly do with some more money, in terms of the

kinds of things that we do." Based on the participants' responses, not having the resources that are needed creates a barrier hindering them from doing their jobs.

Theme 2: Inability to Update Training and Tools to Access Current Needs

This theme was defined as funding putting a limitation on the existing social workers being able to have updates to training, experiences, education, and current modules to meet clients' needs. All participants agreed that there was limited access to training; three participants felt that an option could be to revamp current training modules to meet the expanded content. Due to the lack of funds, the social workers were not able to get the training that was needed to help provide sufficient services to the battered women and to be able to use modules that work with the battered women of today.

Participants described the challenge for the social workers to be able to update training and modules that would help the clients who visit the shelters. Participant 3 summarized this issue as follows:

I think as with anything when change happens, you have to move with the changes that are currently going on. So, I think in some aspects of the programs, there needs to be revamped in order to work with the population that is up to date, versus the population of yesteryears, because there are a lot more factors that come into play.

Participant 2 stated that "we all need improvements of renewal valuations that are consistent with the clients that we are currently working with." Participant 1 further stated,

We are really working in an environment that is changing and there are new programs out there and there are new things that we haven't dealt with or we haven't dealt with at the level that some other people have would be good for us to have training for that. The only thing that I see that causes some problems is that one of the things is that the staff doesn't have access to more training that we had. Therefore, there's a lot that goes on training-wise that we could be getting that we're not getting. I think that's one area that really needs to be looked at.

Participant 4 stated that "more education is needed for the social workers because experience is very limited." Participant 5 summarized, "we need more ongoing training to help serve this population. In order for us to best serve these populations, we would need more in-depth training and more cultural competency." Having more training would be beneficial not only to the social workers, but also to the clients because more training would help the social workers better address client needs.

Theme 3: Barriers to Retaining Experienced Social Workers

Theme 3 emerged due to the social workers' experience issues with salaries or not getting paid based on funding limitations. The definition of this theme was that domestic violence shelters cannot retain social workers due to social workers not getting paid enough or the social workers not getting paid at all due to the lack of funding. Only four participants agreed with this theme.

Employee retention was identified as one of the major impacts that had been caused by lack of funding. The lack of employee retention resulted from payment rates

being low, salary issues, lack of experienced social workers, or social workers not getting paid to provide services. Participant 1 stated,

One thing that really restricts us is our salaries. Therefore, as far as you get people that are master's level, all of that, we do get those people, but then they're looking for other jobs too, that are going to pay more. I think the payment rate is really low and that's a major factor in keeping staff.

Participant 2 noted that "every social worker is a volunteer, including the director, and no one is getting paid. Since no one is getting paid, it is hard to retain case managers that are willing to do their jobs for free." Participant 4 also noted,

They are having a hard time getting people to come in due to the volunteers making more than the social worker. Due to being a private nonprofit, salaries are just diving. Retention rate plays a big role here in the lack of resources that the shelter has.

Participant 5 further noted,

If a social worker is just starting in the shelter [and] does not have a good salary as those that have been in the shelter for a while, this issue causes social workers to not want to stay. If the money isn't there, there is no point in staying.

Difficulties with employees impact battered women in domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina, in that there are not enough experienced social workers who are able to provide the level of services that battered women need.

Theme 4: Insufficient Number of Social Workers

Major theme 4 is defined as a lack of social work staff because existing social workers have too many clients, no support from administrations, and being burned out makes it hard for the social workers to provide services to their clients. Every participant agreed on this category being an issue due to lack of funding. Due to the lack of funding to be able to hire experienced social workers, existing social workers are becoming frustrated and burned out, which makes it hard for the social workers to be available to their clients.

Workplace availability is another major impact that makes it hard for battered women to be able to get sufficient services that are needed. Even though there is COVID-19 going on, having available social workers has been an issue before COVID-19 began. Participant 5 stated that "the social worker caseloads are like 50 clients or more which makes the social worker super busy and people get burned out quickly." Participant 3 summarized "that things can get very frustrating with the population." Participant 4 stated that "we are short staff and for so many reasons around this time. Being short-staffed there is only sometimes the director, which causes most of the clients to not being able to get past the interview and assessment stage. Participant 2 further noted that "due to being volunteers there are not enough volunteers or enough case managers to be able to give the right advocacy to our clients." Participant 1 stated that "more support is needed from the administration regarding the social workers in the shelter or out in the community."

Participant 5 also stated that "social workers need more support from administration and supervisor due to the social workers being burned out."

Theme 5: Limited Access to Services to Meet the Needs of battered African American Women

This theme emerges due to the lack of funding makes it a challenge for the existing social workers to provide sufficient services that meet the needs for African American battered women. The theme is defined from the lack of funding having an impact on the services that the existing social workers are using not being sufficient enough to meet the needs of African American battered women; due to the services not relating to the African American women backgrounds or services that the African American battered women feel comfortable with. Four participants agreed with this theme. Every participant agreed that African American battered women are the majority of the population that visit the domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina.

A lack of knowledge and service were identified as two factors that the social workers have when having the access to be able to provide sufficient services to African American battered women that go into the shelter. This includes trust, not feeling comfortable, useless services, and criteria not being met to help meet the needs of the African American battered women. Participant 1 noted,

There are negative experiences working with the African American population due to not wanting to receive the services and not having services that the women want to have that benefits them. Social workers are willing to serve people but the social workers are showing that they are not comfortable with the clients.

Participant 2 further noted that "whereas you have women of different backgrounds; they may not be able to use their background to cope with each other." Participant 4 also noted

that "working with black females there are some disparities and other barriers to getting services that they need to help them." Participant 3 stated that "dealing with the population can be frustrated due to the African American women not wanting to do differently for themselves." Participant 1 also stated that "we have a therapy bill to do it in a way that is most beneficial to them which means they're going to be there. One problem is that the clients have access to the therapies that they want."

Unexpected Finding

While reviewing the data collected from the participants, an unexpected was the restrictions on the time length that the women could stay at the shelter. Even though the focus of this study is to gain experience on how funding limitation has an impact on the existing social workers being able to do their job, four participants continued to bring up the restrictions and shelter length of stay as a conflict as well in regards to the resources. Participant 1 stated,

Due to the clients having restrictions, living in the shelter makes it hard to have the women participate in group counseling or individual counseling. One problem with the shelter is in the terms of success due to the women staying for only two months, and the women come in traumatized and they are not immediately ready to go and do things.

Participant 3 stated,

I think if we look at different ways to help them work with their anger and work with their codependent behaviors, as well as their low self-esteem. I think

implementing modules to help with that problem would help them be able to matriculate better once they are on their own again.

Participant 4 stated,

Needs more long term facilities and more education because people still do not understand the substance abuse effects. There are not many programs overall in South Carolina and services to treat and deal with women. There is a need for more therapeutic staff.

Participant 4 also stated, "that there is a need for a full-time clinical therapist on the team that is on-site rather than having to continue to send the client off-site for their mental health needs." This is an unexpected finding because due to resources being an issue with lack of funding, I never thought that the mental health of the battered women was not being services sufficiently while being at the domestic violence shelter.

Summary

Section 3 discussed the overview of the findings from the study. Section 3 included data analysis techniques that discussed the time frame of the data collection, data analysis procedures, validation procedures, and the research findings that answer the research question. The summary of the findings answered how the lack of funding impacts the abilities of existing social workers to provide services to African American battered women at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina? The study explored how the existing social workers at the domestic violence shelter have been impacted with funding limitations when trying to provide services to battered women based on their experience, while still being employed at the shelter. Each participant gave

detailed information regarding the social issue as it was related to the shelter they were working in. The data analysis resulted in five major themes. The major themes are (a) limited programmatic and therapeutic access, (b) inability to update training and tools to access current needs, (c) barriers to retaining experienced social workers, (d) insufficient amount of social workers, and (e) limited access to services to meet the needs of battered African American women.

There was one unexpected finding in the study; it related to the lack of resources to help the women with their mental issues and substance abuse. Data analysis revealed 4 participants felt for more clinical staff were needed on-site or available to the battered women to help provide resources regarding the battered women's mental issues and substance abuse. Each of the four participants agreed that even though there is a lack of access to resources regarding funding, the resources for mental health and substance abuse still get overlooked, which results in the battered women revisiting the shelter more often than normal because there are still no resources available to help the battered women overcome all of their issues. One participant stressed that if there is never a resource available for the battered women's mental health or substance abuse issues, the battered women will never be who they were before the abuse occurred.

Every participant highlighted how much the lack of funding has impacted how they are able to provide sufficient services to the battered women based on the resources that they have access to. Every participant felt that more needs to be done to help with getting more funding by either having more come from the administration, organizing a meeting, or having more grant writers.

The focus of this study was to examine how the lack of funding impacts the existing social workers to provide services to African American battered women in Columbia, South Carolina based on the social workers experience. Section 3 summarized the findings and unexpected findings of the study. Section 4 will summarize the application to professional practice and implications for social change, recommendations for social work practice, and implications for social change found in the study.

Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social Change Introduction

The purpose of this study was to examine how lack of funding impacts the abilities of existing social workers at domestic violence shelters to provide services to African American battered women. This study was conducted to gain an understanding of what resources and services were being used by the existing social workers at the shelter to provide services to battered women based on funding limitations. With the services and resources that were being used by the social workers, I was able to use the participants' experiences to gain an understanding of the impact of the funding limitations. For the study, the participants were five social workers who currently worked at a domestic violence shelter in Columbia, South Carolina. The participants had either a bachelor's in social work degree or a master's in social work degree. The five themes emerged were (a) limited programmatic and therapeutic access, (b) inability to update training and tools to access current needs, (c) barriers to retaining experienced social workers, (d) insufficient number of social workers, and (e) limited access to services to meet the needs of battered African American women. The themes answered the research question for the study based on the social worker's experience of what resources and services are impacted by the lack of funding provided to the shelters to help battered women.

Due to the lack of funding, it was found that services are insufficient due to existing social workers not having access to the proper resources that will help African American battered women while in the shelter. There was an unexpected finding during

the data collection. The unexpected finding related to there not being any resources that help women with their mental issues and substance abuse. This unexpected finding helped extend knowledge for this study. I found that even though domestic violence shelters help battered women with abuse, whether physical, mental, or financial, there is still a lack of services regarding other problems or issues that the battered women have while in the shelter. This unexpected finding also helped show how important it is to have resources that meet all of the battered women's needs while they are in the shelter. Participants felt that mental health resources were overlooked but were much needed to help the social workers to provide sufficient services to the battered women.

Section 4 addresses the study's application to professional ethics in social work practice. Section 4 also contains an explanation of how the findings of the study will impact social work practice in relation to the area of professional ethics. The recommendations for social work practice will be explained in Section 4, including action steps that can be taken, the impact of the findings, the usefulness of the findings, limitations, recommendations for further research, and ways to disseminate the information from the study. Lastly, I describe the potential impact for positive social change at the appropriate levels, including micro, mezzo, macro, and/or practice, research, and policy.

Application to Professional Ethics in Social Work Practice

NASW (2021) stated that there are six core values that have been embraced by social workers throughout the profession's history and are the foundation of social work's unique purpose and perspective. The six core values are service, social justice, dignity

and worth of the person, importance of human relationships, integrity, and competence. These six core practices are being used by social workers when working in a domestic violence shelter. The two core values that relate to the social work practice problem for this study are service and competence. NASW stated that service value is used when social workers draw on their knowledge, values, and skills to help people in need and to address social problems. Competence value is described as social workers working in their area of expertise but still striving to increase their professional knowledge and skills and to apply them in practice (NASW, 2021).

The NASW Code of Ethics service value is related to this social work issue due to services being the major resource impacted by limited funding that goes to the domestic violence shelter. The findings show that every participant experienced issues with having access to sufficient services to provide to the battered women in the shelter. Providing services and resources to battered women is an important aspect of existing social workers' jobs at domestic violence shelters. NASW (2021) stated that a social worker's primary goal is to help people in need and to address social problems. This is a mission and value that the existing social workers stand by while helping the battered, but funding limitations make it a challenge for the social workers to provide the services that battered women need to address their problems.

The social work value of competence is related to the social work practice problem due to existing social workers having problems getting access to the services that meet the needs of the African American battered women population. Every participant agreed that African American battered women are the majority of the

population that visits the shelter at which the social workers were currently working. Participants also agreed that there are services that the shelter has that do not meet the needs of African American battered women and that the social workers do not understand how to meet African American battered women's needs. The core value of competence is related to Theme 5 from the findings, which is limited access to services to meet the needs of battered African American women.

However, the findings of this study show how lack of funding is making it an issue for existing social workers to be able to meet the needs of their clients. Based on the findings, the existing social workers have a lack in both the services and competence value of social work. The findings may help guide the existing social workers and directors/administration to find ways to help improve services and competence to meet the needs of the clients that visit the shelter. According to the findings, there is a major impact from the social work practice problem regarding the core values of services and competence. The findings also inform a need for a change in the limited services in the shelters as related to the professional ethics revolving services and competence. This will help reinforce some actions for the social workers to take to help with the social work problem to improve the core social work values of service and competence.

Recommendations for Social Work Practice

Based on the findings of this study, one action step that can be taken for clinical social work practitioners who work in this area of focus is to have training on grant writing for more funding. Due to the social work practice problem focusing on limited funding that has an impact on the social workers being able to provide services to

battered women, having more training on grant writing may help with the funding issue, especially because the majority of the shelter's money may come from government funding. Another action step is finding affordable training, education, and modules to use to help the clients whom the social workers serve. This will help with the policy regarding proper advocacy for the social workers to use with battered women. Every participant in the study agreed that there is a need for better training and newer modules to help meet the needs of today's populations. Finding training and modules that are either free or affordable can help reduce the issue of having limited resources and services to be able to provide to the clients.

How These Findings Will Impact the Researcher's Social Work Practice

As I have advanced as a practitioner in my own social work practice, my plan is to advocate for this population regarding the social work practice issue. Even though I do not work with this population currently, my goal is to eventually work with battered women. Based on the findings from the study, advocating for more funding to address the needs of battered women is critical. The impact of the study shows how hard I will have to advocate for this population. Due to most of the shelters being nonprofit, I will have to get out and get the public involved as well. It will be necessary to educate the public on the need for donations to help battered women in the shelter. I volunteered and did an internship at a shelter in Columbia, South Carolina that helped spark my interest in this social issue. The study findings show how lack of funding not only has an impact on the clients, but also a major impact on the social workers working at the shelter in terms of their ability to perform their job sufficiently. As an advocate, I will reach out to other

funding organizations that could be helpful in making funding available for services, resources, and training for social workers. Building relationships with other organizations that are nonprofits or are funded by the government to address the same social issue may help with raising awareness and networking. Networking will allow for all the organizations to get together to see the various funding opportunities that are out there in the community or within the government that are being overlooked. This will help give existing social workers the resources and support that are needed for them to be able to provide services to the battered women who come into the shelters.

Transferability

The Usefulness of the Findings From the Study

Ravitch and Carl (2016) defined transferability as the way in which qualitative studies can be applicable, or transferable, to broader contexts while still maintaining their context-specific richness. Transferability means that the results of a research study can be applied to similar situations or individuals. This study was focused on existing social workers at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina who were being impacted by a lack of funding to provide services to their clients. Because funding is an important aspect of the social work field, the findings/context of this study may be useful to the broader field of social work practice. The findings of this study may be used by agencies and organizations that have funding issues, which may include those serving the child population (e.g., Department of Social Services) or with vulnerable adults (e.g., aging agencies). This study can also be used by those planning improvements for other

shelters that have existing social workers, such as homeless shelters, family shelters, and substance and alcohol abuse shelters in Columbia, South Carolina.

Ravitch and Carl (2016) stated that methods for achieving transferability include having detailed descriptions of the data as well the context. One description of transferability that can be used from the results of this study is for existing social workers who work at shelters that are not domestic violence shelters is where the data collected for this study indicated that funding makes employee retention difficult. Existing social workers from shelters other than domestic violence shelters may compare the results of this study with their experience with funding issues. Another description of transferability from this study that can be used for existing social workers in other non-domestic-violence shelters involves services and resources that are not available or are impacted due to funding. These two descriptions were two of the important factors of the five themes that emerged that showed how funding limitations had an impact on existing social workers at domestic violence shelters.

Funding is an important factor in each of the shelters and agencies listed. If the social workers in these shelters are having issues with providing services due to lack of funding, the results and findings of this study may allow other researchers, stakeholders, and participants to start transferring aspects of the study design and findings by taking into consideration different contextual factors instead of attempting to replicate this study design and findings. Due to other shelters not being domestic violence shelters but having existing social workers at those shelters dependent on funding to help provide services, shows the different contextual factors from this study being used in other shelters that are

not domestic violence shelters. This can help show the transferability of the results to other contexts (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Moreover, because many of the shelters in Columbia, South Carolina use the same funding resources as the domestic violence shelters (e.g., community sources, grants, government sources, or donations), the study findings may be applicable to shelters serving other populations. The use of other contextual factors received from this study may allow the audiences of the research to grasp the study findings and apply them to other populations outside of the domestic violence population to help bring improvement to their agency to ensure that their clients' needs are being met. The findings from this study may help in finding alternatives to help existing social workers at non-domestic-violence shelters where similar social issues are affecting social workers' ability to do their job.

Limitations That May Impact the Usefulness of the Findings

When one is using a qualitative research method, there is no required number of participants. Ravitch and Carl (2016) stated, "there are no set rules in qualitative research when it comes to having a certain number of participants" (p. 138). Due to only having five participants, the findings of this study are not generalizable. In that the findings relate to funding impacting domestic violence shelters, the findings may only apply to a narrow population. Even though this may be a limitation, the study findings do offer increased understanding of this social work practice issue that can be used for another study or population.

Recommendations for Further Research

Based on the findings, one recommendation is to use more clinical counselors and staff as participants to help gain an understanding of this social work practice problem in this area. I had a difficult time getting participants who were just social workers due to many workers at the shelters not being social workers.

Another recommendation for further research is to add more questions regarding funding. For example, in what ways are shelters trying to fix the lack of funding? Are shelter social workers taught how to find funding such as grants, funds, stipends, and so forth?

Finally, to understand African American battered women, it could be helpful to apply critical racial theory as a framework along with conflict theory. Poole et al. (2021) defined critical racial theory as "a praxis-oriented framework that recognizes that racism is ingrained in the fabric of global society yet may manifest differently across geocultural contexts" (p. 2). Critical race theory could be used to gain an understanding of the inequality of services that are available to African American battered women compared to battered women of other ethnicities who receive services at domestic violence shelters, while conflict theory may be applied in looking at the limitation of the funding. Since critical race theory is a suggestion, using only conflict theory for further research is also recommended as well.

Ways to Disseminate the Research Information

Disseminating the information from this research may help to improve the funding issues that are present in domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina.

The goal of this study was to bring awareness to how funding limitations have affected social workers' ability to provide services to their clients. One way to disseminate the information from the research is to give the information to the participants and shelters in Columbia, South Carolina.

The participants will receive this study via email as a digital copy. The participants will be able to see what they contributed to the study as well as what other participants contributed. The participants will be allowed to share the study with anyone whom they feel would benefit from it. I will also disseminate the study to shelters in Columbia, South Carolina, by giving out one copy to each shelter to bring awareness to shelters whose staff might feel that they are the only ones going through this issue.

Implications for Social Change

Williams (2016) stated that the social work profession uses knowledge from other helping professions. A generalist approach that involves the use of relevant knowledge from multiple disciplines allows social workers flexibility in helping to resolve diverse potential issues at the micro, mezzo, and macro levels. Regarding the findings of this study, the next section addresses potential impacts for positive change at the micro, mezzo, and macro levels.

Micro

Tan (2009) stated that micro-level is done where the social workers have direct contact with their clients to address individual problems. The problem that is being addressed in this study is how the funding has an impact on the social workers being able to provide services to battered women. The positive impact that can happen at the micro-

level is working with the social workers at the domestic violence shelter individually to come up with different ideas and plans to help with coming up with ways to improve the social work practice issue. Speaking with the social workers individually will not only help with gaining an understanding of the situation but help the change to start with the social workers that work more with this social work practice issues to come up with ways to improve the funding, especially since most of the domestic violence shelters are non-profits. Having the social workers come up with different ways to improve this impact within the different shelters, the next step will extend beyond the social workers but to other leaders and groups; which starts the process with the positive social change at the mezzo level.

Mezzo

Mezzo level is used to solve problems in families and groups/organization (Tan, 2009). Due to the social work practice issue focusing on the funding limitation regarding resources and service; this still creates an impact on how successful the organization which is the domestic violence shelter is. To make a positive impact on this social issue is by expanding this information to those who are involved with the shelters which can include the administrators, directors, and staff members from the domestic violence shelter. Reaching out to the administrators, directors, and staff members will help bring more ideas and opinions on this issue to help bring positive social change to practice problems. At the mezzo level, another potential positive impact is by having the administrators, directors, and the staff members get together to help educate the others in the community. Having this group of individuals educate others on how important it is to

have sufficient funding; will help bring more funding from the donors and getting the administrators and directors to come up with a plan for grant writing to help the social work issue be a potential impact at the macro level.

Macro

The macro-level of social work involves interventions and advocacy with institutions, communities, and society at-large (Tan, 2009). The macro-level also looks at issues by developing laws or petitioning local, state, or even federal governments for funds to help communities but indirectly. The potential positive impact regarding this social work practice problem to help create a social change is by having the social workers be able to petition the government in regards to getting funds to help with providing services. The social worker at this level working at a non profit organization which is a domestic violence shelter could implement targeted campaigns against the large-scale social issue of the funding limitation. Since many of the domestic violence shelters get their funding from grants by the government this study findings will help get campaigns together to get more funding for the domestic violence shelters.

However, each level help brings awareness and positive change to this population.

Utilizing these levels allows for the social work practice problem to be worked at by individuals that can cause major improvement to shelters to ensure that the social workers have the resources and services that are needed to be able to get their job done sufficiently. Each level will help in different stages to help finds ways to decrease this social work practice issue.

Summary

Social workers that work at domestic violence shelters are an essential aspect to the shelter. The social workers are the individuals that help the shelters to run smoothly with the services and resources that the social workers give to each client. However, the use of funding is what helps provide the resources and services that the social workers need to be able to get their job done. Many years in the news the government has decreased the human services funding for domestic violence shelters; which causes an effect on the social workers and the battered women population. This study helps to capture the good, bad, and ugly of how the funding limitations make it hard for the social workers to provide the services that are needed for the clients. This study gaining the information based on the social work experiences help shows the impact from those who have to deal with this issue daily. This issue is a hindrance that can make the social worker feel useless to their clients because of this limitation making it hard for the social workers to live up to the NASW Codes of Ethics core values. This social work practice issue has been overlooked for years and bringing awareness from this study will help to bring improvement of this issue through domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina; with the vision to expand to help other cities and states that have the same issue. Social workers that are working at domestic violence shelters in Columbia, South Carolina will never be able to fully provide sufficient services to the battered women population if the funding limitation does not improve.

References

- Allen, A. B., Robertson, E., & Patin, G. A. (2017). Improving emotional and cognitive outcomes for domestic violence survivors: The impact of shelter stay and self-compassion support groups. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *36*(1–2), NP598–NP624. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260517734858
- Anyikwa, V. A. (2015). The intersections of race and gender in help-seeking strategies among a battered sample of low-income African American women. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 25(8), 948–959.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2015.1047075
- Baholo, M., Christofides, N., Wright, A., Sikweyiya, Y., & Shai, N. J. (2015). Women's experiences leaving abusive relationships: A shelter-based qualitative study.

 Culture, Health & Sexuality, 17(5), 638–649.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13691058.2014.979881
- Barnier, B. (2020). *Conflict theory*. https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/conflict-theory.asp
- Ben-Porat, A., & Sror-Bondarevsky, N. (2018). Length of women's stays in domestic violence shelters: Examining the contribution of background variables, level of violence, reasons for entering shelters, and expectations. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260518811425
- Bent-Goodley, T. B. (2004). Perceptions of domestic violence: A dialogue with African American women. *Health & Social Work*, 29(4), 307–316. https://doi.org/10.1093/hsw/29.4.307

- Bergstrom-Lynch, C. A. (2018). Empowerment in a bureaucracy? Survivors' perceptions of domestic violence shelter policies and practices. *Affilia: Journal of Women & Social Work*, 33(1), 112–125. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109917716104
- Bowstead, J. C. (2015). Why women's domestic violence refuges are not local services.

 *Critical Social Policy, 35(3), 327–349.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0261018315588894
- Brown, C., Serpe, C., & Brammer, S. (2020). The experiences of domestic violence shelter workers and their perceptions of shelter services: A preliminary study. *Violence & Victims*, *35*(4), 539–561. https://doi.org/10.1891/VV-D-18-00082
- Burnett, C., Ford-Gilboe, M., Berman, H., Ward-Griffin, C., & Wathen, N. (2015). A critical discourse analysis of provincial policies impacting shelter service delivery to women exposed to violence. *Policy, Politics, & Nursing Practice*, *16*(1–2), 5–16. https://doi.org/10.1177/1527154415583123
- Burnett, C., Ford-Gilboe, M., Berman, H., Wathen, N., & Ward-Griffin, C. (2016). The day-to-day reality of delivering shelter services to women exposed to intimate partner violence in the context of system and policy demands. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 42(4), 516–532.
- Chang, J., Martin, S., Moracco, K., Dulli, L., Scandlin, D., Loucks-Sorrel, M. B., Turner, T., Starsoneck, L., Dorian, P. N., & Bou-Saada, I. (2003). Helping women with disabilities and domestic violence: Strategies, limitations, and challenges of domestic violence programs and services. *Journal of Women's Health*, *12*, 699–708. https://doi.org/10.1089/154099903322404348

- Clevenger, B. M., & Roe-Sepowitz, D. (2009). Shelter service utilization of domestic violence victims. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 19(4), 359–374. https://doi.org/10.1080/10911350902787429
- Crossman, A. (2019). *Understanding conflict theory*. https://www.thoughtco.com/conflict-theory-3026622
- Dichter, M., & Rhodes, K. (2011). Intimate partner violence survivors' unmet social service needs. *Journal of Social Service Research*, *37*(5), 481–489. https://doi.org/10.1080/01488376.2011.587747
- Dinwiddie, K., Zawadzki, S., Ristau, K., Luneburg, A. F., Earley, T. A., Ruiz, M., Talley,
 D., Iaccino, J., & Coker, K. L. (2019). A sample of predominantly African
 American domestic violence victims' responses to objective risk assessments.
 Violence Against Women. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801219848485
- Dunbar, T. (2018). Conflict resolution strategies used by civilian small business

 managers on military bases [Doctoral study, Walden University]. Walden

 Dissertations and Doctoral Studies.

 https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/5074/
- Few, A. L. (2005). The voices of Black and White rural battered women in domestic violence shelters. *Family Relations*, *54*(4), 488–500.
- FindLaw. (2018, September 13). *Battered woman syndrome*.

 https://family.findlaw.com/domestic-violence/battered-women-s-syndrome.html
- Fisher, E. M., & Stylianou, A. M. (2019). To stay or to leave: Factors influencing victims' decisions to stay or leave a domestic violence emergency shelter. Journal

- of Interpersonal Violence, 34(4), 785–811. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260516645816
- Grossman, S. F., & Lundy, M. (2011). Characteristics of women who do and do not receive onsite shelter services from domestic violence programs. *Violence Against Women*, *17*(8), 1024–1045. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801211414169
- Grossman, S. F., Lundy, M., George, C. C., & Crabtree-Nelson, S. (2010). Shelter and service receipt for victims of domestic violence in Illinois. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 25(11), 2077–2093. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260509354505
- Grubb, J. A., & Mufti, #263, Lisa R. (2018). A comparative analysis of domestic violence shelter staff perceptions regarding barriers to services in bosnia and herzegovina and the united states. *International Journal of Offender Therapy & Comparative Criminology*, 62(11), 3278–3297. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306624X17739559
- Hagan, J., Shedd, C., & Payne, M. R. (2005). Race, ethnicity, and youth perceptions of criminal injustice. *American Sociological Review*, 70(3), 381–407. https://doi.org/10.1177/000312240507000302
- Hargrove, S. (2018). Intimate partner violence in the black community.

 https://ujimacommunity.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Intimate-Partner-Violence-IPV-v9.4.pdf
- Hodges, T. A., & Cabanilla, A. S. (2011). Factors that impact help-seeking among battered Black women: application of critical and survivor theories. *Journal of Cultural Diversity*, 18(4), 120–125.

- Hughes, J. (2017). Women's advocates and shelter residents: Describing experiences of working and living in domestic violence Shelters. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 886260517707307. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260517707307
- Johnson, D. M., & Zlotnick, C. (2012). Remission of PTSD after victims of intimate partner violence leave a shelter. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 25(2), 203–206. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.21673
- Koop, F. (2019). What is conflict theory? Looking at Marx's main concepts.

 https://www.zmescience.com/other/feature-post/what-is-conflict-theory-19092019/
- Kulkarni, S. J., Stylianou, A. M., & Wood, L. (2019). Successful rules reduction implementation process in domestic violence Shelters: From vision to practice. *Social Work*, 64(2),147–156. https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/swz010
- Lapsley, T. M. (2019). Effective planning of urban Communities' vulnerabilities for mitigation of homelessness after a natural disaster. ScholarWorks.
- Mary Kay Inc. (5 C.E., January 2012). While signs of economic recovery persist, domestic violence on the rise nationwide. *Business Wire (English)*.
- Merchant, L. V., & Whiting, J. B. (2015). Challenges and retention of domestic violence shelter sdvocates: a Grounded Theory. *Journal of family violence*, *30*(4), 467–478. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-015-9685-y
- Muftić, L. R., Deljkić, I., & Fansher, A. K. (2019). A nationwide evaluation of services provided to domestic violence survivors at shelters in Bosnia-Herzegovina.

- Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 34(4), 667–690. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260516645571
- Murray, C. E., Horton, G. E., Johnson, C. H., Notestine, L., Garr, B., Marsh, A., Flasch,
 P., & Doom, E. B. (2015). Domestic violence service providers' perceptions of safety planning: A focus group study. *Journal of Family Violence*, 30, 381-392.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-015-9674-1
- National Association of Social Workers. (2021). *NASW code of ethics*.

 https://www.socialworkers.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=KZmmbz15evc%3D&p
 ortalid=0
- National Coalition Against Domestic Violence. (2019). *Domestic violence*. https://assets.speakcdn.com/assets/2497/domestic_violence2.pdf
- Nnawulezi, N. A., & Sullivan, C. M. (2014). Oppression Within safe spaces: Exploring racial microaggressions within domestic violence shelters. *Journal of black* psychology, 40(6), 563–591. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798413500072
- National Network to End Domestic Violence. (2011). Funding challenges for domestic violence programs: The impact on victims.

 http://www.ncdsv.org/images/NNEDV_FundingChallengesForDvprogramsTheIm-pactOnVictims_3-2013.pdf
- Omer, S., & Jabeen, S. (2016). Exploring karl marx conflict theory in education: Are pakistani private schools maintaining status quo? *Bulletin of Education & Research*, 38(2), 195–202.

- Onwuegbuzie, A., Dickinson, W., Leech, N., & Zoran, A. (2009). A qualitative framework for collecting and analyzing data in focus group research. 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690900800301
- Onyesom, M., & Igbesi, E. F. (2015). Conflict resolution and management: The macro perspective. *Journal of Investment and Management*, 4(5), 250–255. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.jim.20150405.25
- Patel, M., Bhaju, J., Thompson, M., & Kaslow, N. (2012). Life stress as mediator of the childhood maltreatment intimate partner violence link in low-income, African American Women. *Journal of Family Violence*, 27(1), 1–10.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-011-9398-9
- Perez-Trujillo, M., & Quintane, E. (2017). Why do they stay? Examining contributing factors to women's length of stay in a domestic violence shelter. *Journal of family violence*, 32(1), 89–100. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-016-9904-1
- Poole, S. M., Grier, S. A., Thomas, K. D., Sobande, F., Ekpo, A. E., Torres, L. T.,

 Addington, L. A., Weekes-Laidlow, M., & Henderson, G. R. (2021).

 Operationalizing critical race theory in the marketplace. *Journal of public policy*& Marketing, 40(2), 126–142. https://doi.org/10.1177/0743915620964114
- Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2016). Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual, theoretical, and Methodological. SAGE.
- Saldana, J. (2021). The coding manual for qualitative researchers (4th ed.). SAGE Publications Ltd.

- Shivayogi, P. (2013). Vulnerable population and methods for their safeguard. 4(1), 53-57. https://doi.org/10.4103/2229-3485.106389
- Souza de Oliveira Lima, N. de J., & Rezende Pacheco, L. (2016). Domestic violence against women in community health agents perspective. *Journal of Nursing UFPE / Revista de Enfermagem UFPE*, 10, 4279–4285.

 https://doi.org/10.5205/reuol.9284-81146-1-SM.1005sup201615
- Sullivan, C. M., Goodman, L. A., Virden, T., Strom, J., & Ramirez, R. (2018). Evaluation of the effects of receiving trauma-informed practices on domestic violence shelter residents. *American journal of orthopsychiatry* 88(5), 563–570.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/ort0000286
- Sullivan, C. M., & Virden, T. (2017). Interrelationships among length of stay in a domestic violence shelter, help received, and outcomes achieved. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, *4*, 434.
- Sullivan, C. M., & Virden, T. (2017). An eight state study on the relationships among violence shelter services and residents' self-efficacy and hopefulness. *Journal of Family Violence*, 32(8), 741–750. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-017-9930-7
- Tan, A. (2009). Community development theory and practice: Bridging the divide between "Micro" and "Macro" levels of social Work. *NACSW Convention Proceedings*, 1–17.
- Teherani, A., Martimianakis, T., Stenfors-Hayes, T., Wadhwa, A., & Varpio, L. (2015).

 Choosing a qualitative research approach. 7(4), 669-670.

 https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-D-15-00414.1

- Turner, J. (1975). Marx and Simmel Revisited: Reassessing the foundations of conflict Theory, *53*(4), 618–627. https://doi.org/http://www.jstor.org/stable/2576477
- Villines, Z. (2018). Battered woman syndrome and intimate partner violence. https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/320747
- Weisz, A. N. (2005). Reaching african american battered women: Increasing the effectiveness of advocacy. *Journal of Family Violence*, 20(2), 91–99. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-005-3172-9
- Williams, D. J. (2016). The future of effective social work practice: Broadening multidisciplinary collaboration and increasing flexibility. *Social Work*, 61(4), 363–368.
- Wood, L. (2015). Hoping, empowering, strengthening: Theories used in intimate partner Violence Advocacy. *Affilia-Journal of Women and Social Work*, *30*(3), 286–301. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109914563157
- Wood, L., Clark, D., Heffron, L. C., & Schrag, R. V. (2020). Voluntary, survivorcentered advocacy in domestic violence agencies. *Advances in Social Work*, 20(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.18060/23845
- Wright, A., & Bertrand, L. (2017). Access to legal services in women's shelters. *Journal of Family Violence*, 32(1), 101–114. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-016-9901-4

Appendix A: Interview Questions

- 1. How long have you been working at the domestic violence shelter?
- 2. What programs and services are available to battered women?
- 3. For the programs and services that are available, what social or economic impact has occurred to make the programs and services sufficient or not sufficient for the battered women.
- 4. At the shelter you are employed at, are African American women a majority or minority when visiting or entering the shelter?
 - a. In your words, what positive or negative experiences or interactions have you had with this population?
- 5. Identify the assessments or standardized tools used at the shelter you are employed with?
 - a. Based on your experiences, explain how the assessments or standardized tools are sufficient or insufficient when it comes to providing services to battered women?
 - b. Identify any areas that need improvement?
- 6. Identify key reasons why battered women leave a domestic violence shelter?
- 7. Identify critical resources used to help meet the needs of battered women?
- 8. At the shelter that you are currently employed at, what are the significant resources missing that you believe are needed?
- 9. How has funding impacted, workplace availability, employee retention, and turnover rates?
 - a. and if so, what do you think is the cause of (workplace availability, employee retention, and turnover rates) plugin, whichever one applies here.
 - b. What are the action steps you would take as a social worker to improve(workplace availability, employee retention, and turnover rates) plugin, whichever one applies here.
- 10. How does funding impact the level of resources that your shelter provides for their clients?